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AN ARCHAEOLOGICAL AND HISTORICAL
SENSITIVITY EVALUATION OF SURVIVING OPEN
AREAS WITHIN THE LITTLE ITALY SPECIAL ZONING
DISTRICT, (AREA B), BLOCKS 508, 509 and 521
(CEQR No. 87-311M)

THE MANDATED SCOPE

At the request of Dresdner, Robin and Associates, and in accordance with the re-
quirements of the New York City Environmental Quality Review Act and the New
York City Historic Landmarks Preservation Commission (Landmarks) archaeologi-
cal review procedures under this authority, Grossman and Associates Inc. conducted
a comprehensive archaeological and historical literature search and sensitivity
evaluation for selected areas within the proposed Little Italy Special Zoning District
Project. The rezoning project area includes lots within portions of three blocks
roughly bounded by Mulberry Street to the west and Elizabeth Street to the east,
with the intersection of East Houston Street and Mott Street marking the center
(See Figure 8).

This historical and archaeological sensitivity study has been undertaken to establish
the potential survival of unimpacted open area parcels which may contain surviving
18th or 19th century archaeological remains. The study was undertaken in two major
stages:

e 1)comparative historic map analysis designed to define surviving open par-
cels which were not destroyed or impacted by 19th century basement con-
struction into and below the level of 19th century fill;

® 2)intensive reconstruction of the ethnic and occupational history of 19th cen-
tury inhabitants for each surveyed open lot area.

As documented below, this project history spans the 400 vear period from the 17th
to the 20th centuries, beginning with its initial occupation in the 17th century by
Free Blacks, to its utilization as 18th century farmsteads, and then, to its 19th cen-
tury incorporation into the expanding urban grid of Manhattan. The map and ar-

Grossman & Associates, Inc.
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chival sources document that the former 18th century farms (including the post
1760’s Dyckman Farm under block 508) were subdivided into city lots and sold be-
tween 1795 and 1800, and that the first evidence of structures and occupations within
the specific project area occurred by 1820.

In addition to tracing the residential and structural history of each open lot area, the
study utilized computerized tabulations (Tables 2 & 3) of the ethnic and occupation-
al makeup of each block and lot through time for the entire project area. This data
in turn provides the basis for evaluating the nature and significance of the individual
lot histories according to the criteria established by Landmarks, described below.

The areas selected for detailed study focused on the "open” or "soft areas” high-
lighted by Landmarks during their professional staff review as potentially ar-
chaeologically significant because "...the northern portion of the [rezoning project]
site is part of historic Greenwich Village circa 1637 and the southern portion of the
site is part of historic New York circa 1800" (letter of October 22, 1987 from Mark
London, Director, New York City Environmental Quality Review Office to Alex
Garvin of Oxford Associates, conveying the Landmarks requirements). Specifically,
the ten lots highlighted for study by Landmarks as requiring assessment of the rezon-
ing project’s possible impact on archaeological resources are: Block 521. Lots 28 and
54: Block 509, Lots 19, 20, 21, and 22; and Block 308, Lots 18, 20, 22, 28. The ration-
ale for gathering the data for these blocks, as specified by Landmarks was:

The study should address exactly who lived on the soft sites.. The importance of such
a documentary study becomes clear when one considers, for instance, whether a
tenement house with a transient population or a house occupied over a long period
of time by the same family existed on a particular lot. Archaeological material
recovered from the tenement house would be very general, whereas archaeological
material recovered from the one family house would be more specific and avaluable.
The study should include data from census records, city directories, tax records and a
title search. It should also address when water and sewer lines were connected"
(London 1987). °

Of course, the locations and exact boundaries of these city lots have changed over
time and, consequently, in order to provide the required comprehensive data on all
potential archaeological and historic resources within these present-day lots,
Grossman and Associates carried-out the specified document search for appropriate

adjacent areas.

Grossman & Associates, Inc.
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RESEARCH STRATEGY AND SOURCES

As an initial step in the investigation, the Grossman and Associates staff reviewed
available cultural resources studies with the staff of Landmarks in order to identify
previously recorded prehistoric and historic resources and areas considered to be of
potential sensitivity within and immediately adjacent to the project impact map. His-
toric map, primary and secondary document, and archival research was carried-out
at the New York Public Library; the Municipal Reference Library; the Municipal Ar-
chives; the New York Historical Society; the New York Topographic Bureau: the
Tax Division; City Register’s Office; and the Elmer Bobst Library of New York
University. Sources from the New York City Department of Buildings; The New
York Bureau of Water Supply; The New York Bureau of Sewers; New York City
Census Records: Tax Assessment Lists; as well as the Alderman’s records were used
at the above repositories.

Published sources and site files were consulted to determine if there were any
records of prehistoric archaeological sites or specimens identitied for the immediate
environs of the project area. Additionally, in consultation with Daniel Pagano, Ar-
chaeologist of the Landmarks’ staff, the Commission’s existing archaeological sen-
sitivity model for Manhattan was reviewed. No known prehistoric resources were
identified and, based upon the Landmarks’ model {which uses proximity to former
streams, lakes, or marshlands as the diagnostic environmental marker identified
potential for prehistoric site/locations), the project area is considered to be pote ntial-
ly non-sensitive for prehistoric sites.

e THE HISTORIC MAP ANALYSIS

An initial investigation of historic maps of the general project area from the earliest
Contact Period through the first half of the 20th century, as available, used in con-
junction with deed research data and maps provided by Dresdner, Robin and As-
sociates, and with information in Stokes’/conography and Valentine’s Manuals
provided preliminary data on the general nature of the project area.

The most useful data on the nature, sequence. and changing patterns of building
episodes and land use within the project area came from detailed comparisons of
scaled historic maps. The results of this cartographic research which included
manuscript maps, and insurance atlases from the 1850s to the present (see Sources
Consulted for a complete listing) were summarized in a series of eight scaled trans-
lucent overlay maps. These spanned an approximate one hundred and thirty year
period from the mid-19th century to 1938 and present a clear visual record of lot by
lot changes within the project impact area.

Grossman & Associates, Inc.
1988
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¢ HISTORIC FILL AND BORING RECORDS

The scaled historic maps showed the horizontal extent of changing building and
foundation foot prints, relative to the shift in open areas within each block through
time.

The vertical extent of past impacts was established from boring logs and Rock Data
Maps obtained from the New York Department of Engineering, Subsurface
Division, and the Topographic Bureau, which indicated that there was approximately
seven feet of 19th Century fill (Figure 4). —
These vertical records indicated that the elevation of the vicinity was raised seven
feet over the level of the 18th Century city surface with artificial fill.

The combined boring and filling records as well as the basement depths recorded
from "New Building Dockets" obtained from the Department of Buildings as well as
the utilization of alteration records, made it possible to identify those localities
within these tots that may contain intact living surfaces from the i8th or 19th cen-
turies which do not appear to have been destroyed by-déep construction of base-
ments and subbasements. It appears that 19th century features (cisterns and
privies), if still intact. could be found in this layer of fill. The possibility also exists
that below this 19th Century fill earlier cultural material and features may exist at or
below this seven-foot fill layer.

The survival of resources depends on the depth of historic fill (based on boring
records) relative to the recorded depths of basements and foundations within each
lot. The Rock Data Maps (illustrating the two boring in the immediate vicinity of the
project area) document a fill depth of ca. six to seven-feet. Additional boring infor-
mation demonstrates that the fill is graded in depth from north (at approximately six
feet) to south (at approximately ten feet two blocks south of the project area). The
core samples establish the benchmark for evaluating potential survival of ar-
chaeological remains within the project area. It is assumed that the seven-foot layer
of fill correlates with the early 19th century process of cut-and-fill operations as-
sociated with the expansion of the New York City gridded street system., According-
ly, it is assumed that, where not impacted by subsurface basement and utility
construction, the fill layer may contain 19th century archaeological features. Based
on the same set of data, it is assumed that any potential 17th or 18th century deposits
or features would be restricted to the zones underlying the fill.

¢ SEWER AND WATER HOOK-UPS

It was not possible to determine when the cisterns and privies were abandoned be-
cause it was found that data on the precise dates of specific building hook-up to city

Grossman & Associates. [nc.
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water and sewer lines were not available for this portion of the city (Housmann, per-
sonal communication, 9/1988). Of course, while it could be determined that the
hook-up (and presumably the absence of cisterns) had to have taken place some
time after the construction of the Croton Aqueduct and the laying of pipes for dis-
tribution of its water for the project area in 1849 (Valentine 1850:270-281). the ac-
tual dates of any hook-up could not be established based on existing archival
sources. The Subsurface Utility Maps at the Topographic Bureau do record that
sewer pipes were placed in the streets by the mid-19th century as follows: Bleecker
Street, no date; Mott Street between Bleecker and East Houston. 186 1: Elizabeth
Street between Bleecker and East Houston. 1835: East Houston Street, 1849; Mul-
berry Street between East Houston and Prince Streets, 1861; Mott Street between
East Houston and Prince Streets, 1854; Elizabeth Street between East Houston and
Prince Streets, 1864; Prince Street, 1866.. In general, the sewers were placed in the
streets slightly earlier to the north than in the southern blocks of the project area.
However, once installed. documents do not establish where, and how long after, in-
dividual structures were connected to the main lines.

o INDIVIDUAL LOT HISTORY

Once the potentially sensitive surviving open areas were defined from the map,
boring, and building records, lot specific narrative and interpretive histories were
compiled for these areas to characterize the nature of historic occupation through
time. These histories incorporate additional information on the dates of first con-
struction on each particular lot and utilize the demographic, occupational, and
nativity data for the occupants and/or owners of the buildings. From the census, tax.
and directory data gathered for all the designated lots (in the appendices} and the in-
terpretive historical data for the specific lots in which open sensitive areas could be
defined, we have been able to provide broad ethnic and occupational profiles for the
three blocks and to provide a more refined discussion of demographic change (in

terms of ethnicity) for the open areas.
Ly

The following lot-specific histories focused on the designated open or "soft areas” as
highlighted by Landmarks. Although documentary data was collected for all lots
highlighted by landmarks (as itemized in the appendices), based on the cartographic
analysis, these "open” or "soft areas” were reduced in number based on the extent
and depth of documented 19th century building footprints (see overlay 1-8). Only
the surviving "open" lot areas have been individually addressed in the following
reconstruction of occupational history.

Appendix I consists of a title search of each block and lot within the project area. Ap-
pendix I contains a compilation of ethnographic and demographic data taken from
census records, dating from 1870-1900 and includes some census information from

Grossman & Associates, Inc.
1988



Page 6

the 1855 census records as well as available data from city directories and tax
records. The difficulties inherent with working from the 1855 census derived from
the fact that no addresses were given in the historic records. Therefore. the 1851
Double Directory was utilized, to determine those people (along with their occupa-
tions, when available), living within the project area during the mid-19th century.
Given the fact that addresses were constantly changing throughout the 19th Century,
working backwards through time was both ditficult and time consuming. Tax assess-
ment records dating from the 1840’s back to the first decade of the 19th century,
helped to reconstruct the constant changes in addresses, ward numbers, and lot

boundaries.

ETHNICITY AND IMMIGRATION IN NEW YORK CITY

At the request of Landmarks, we used census and tax records and data from the city
directories to provide a quantitative 19th century profile of the changing ethnic and
occupational character of the project area.

In order to provide an appropriate ethnographic and demographic context to the set-
tlement history, two recent scholarly studies were consulted to provide modern his-
torical analyses of the overall patterns of immigration, settlement, and occupational
selection in America, and specifically, New York during the 19th and 20th centuries.
These studies provided a context for understanding the data we gathered on the oc-
cupants of the project area. The Golden Door; Italian and Jewish Immigrant Mobility
in New York City 1880-1915 by Thomas Kessner provided an innovative quantitative
and historical analysis of Italian immigrant settlement patterns and mobility (occupa-
tional, economic, and residential) for New York City as a whole. Kessner used not
only census and directory data, but also literature, biographical, and contemporary
reports to provide contextual descriptive material on both the prominent and the "in-
articulate masses" (often left out of the public records) for use in social and cultural
historical analyses of immigration. For example, he compared, contrasted, and
analyzed the socio-cultural and economic meanings of individual and intergenera-
tional occupational distribution and mobility and residential patterns for several eth-
nic groups, including Italians, over time.

Ethnic Americans; a History of Immigration by Leonard Dinnerstein and David M.
Reimers not only analyzed the general patterns of and policy influences on immigra-
tion in the United States, but also carefully integrated important data on women.
children and family life throughout the text.

Considering the purposes of this report, it is not appropriate to devote extensive
space (and time) to a general discussion of 18th, 19th, and 20th century immigration
patterns and policy. However, it is pertinent to note that between 1880 and 1919

Grossman & Associates. Inc.
1988
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(the period of greatest population growth for our study area), over 23 million im-
migrants came to American ports and New York admitted 17 million (approximately
75%) of these. These people are called the "New Immigrants" by contemporary
scholars in order to distinguish them from the population groups who came to the
United States during the earlier decades of the 19th century. The "Old Immigrants”
include Germans (Christian), Irish, and other northern Europeans; the."New Im-
migrants” include the ltalians, Jews from eastern Europe and Germany. and other
eastern and southern Europeans. Millions stayed in New York City. Some. such as
the Germans and Jews, came with their families to settle: others, including the first
waves of Irish and Ttalians, came as single men and women, to work at unskilled jobs
for a limited time to accumulate modest sums to take home to the families they left
behind.

Though Italian immigration did not peak until 1904 or 1905, George E. Pozzetta in
his doctoral dissertation, "The Italians of New York City, 1890-1914," characterizes
the settlement patterns of 14th Ward of Manhattan, "Little Italy," at the turn of the
20th century. He argues that the industrious Italian immigrants retained their Old
World geographic subdivisions in their competition for limited work and in the or-
ganization of their communities among the pinched streets of lower Manhattan.
Erom the 1880s well into the second decade of the 20th century, Mott Street be-
tween East Houston and Prince Streets was the domain of the Napoletani; the op-
posite side of the street was reserved for Basilicati. Around the corner, the Siciliani
settied Prince Street, while two blocks away the Calabresi lived on Mott between
Broome and Grand. Mulberry Street was strictly Neapolitan and Hester Street, run-
ning perpendicular to Mulberry, was the home of Apulia (Pozzetta, 1971},

Studies of immigrant populations in New York City during the late 19th and early
20th centuries by Kessner (1977) and by Dinnerstein and Reimers (1988), among
others, show that many of the resident groups, including Italians, enhanced their
economic status over time. However, group mobility is quite a different issue from
individual economic and social mobility within the study blocks. The fact that
Italians in 1905 held more prestigious and lucrative occupations than the Italians of
the city in 1880 does not necessarily indicate that Gotham’s 19th century Italian resi-
dents climbed the ladder of economic opportunity. It is important to keep in mind,
in the analysis of demographic change that the Italian, German, Irish, Black, and
U.S. born White communities of 1905 were not simply the 1850s or 1880s com-
.munities grown older. Many explanations other than individual mobility are pos-
sible for this profile of improved group occupational status. Clearly, individual
mobility is not necessarily the cause or result of group mobility.

Kessner investigates the hypothesis that tength of time in the United States is direct-
ly related (possibly causally related) to occupational status. He holds that in order to
accurately test this model of occupational status it is necessary to both analyze the

Grossman & Associates, Inc.
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correlation between years in the United States and economic status and to trace the
individuals within a study sample over a specified period of time (at least one genera-
tion). He finds that in 1905 over 46 percent of the employved [talians had lived in the
U.S. less than six years and only three percent were in America before 1879. Only
those who had been in the U.S. over 25 years showed marked improvement in
economic/occupational status. Therefore, the status of the 1905 group of Italians
tells us little about the individual mobility within the 1879 population sample.

However, using directory data as a supplement to the census data, Kessner is able to
trace individual occupational mobility. He finds that among Italians in southern
Manhattan and Brooklyn, thirty percent could be classified as white coliar and seven-
ty percent could be classified as blue collar, In 1900, only the thirty percent white
collar heads of households can be traced among the Italian sample and all other in-
dividuals from the earlier census no longer appeared in the directory. With the
Eastern European and German Jews, Kessner finds that the sample was evenly
divided between white and blue collar workers in 1879 but in 1900 only the poorest
segments (occupational groups) could be traced. Thus, because people died, moved
out of the city, or were not recorded in the directory, attrition destroyed the validity
of the sample. The sample was characteristic of the upper-class Italians, only, and
could not be used for simple comparison with other population samples because of
the varying selective biases operative in the directory listings. However, if the ef-
fects of trace attrition are taken into account, it is possible for Kessner to quantify
rates and directions of mobility. His interpretation is that New York’s economic sys-
tem at the end of the 19th century and turn of the 20th century was highly fluid for
the Italians; almost half of New York’s Italians changed jobs and socio-economic
class ranking within a decade.

Dinnerstein, Nichols, and Reimers state that Italian peasants left southern Italy in
the late 1880s in response to cholera epidemics and a ruined citrus fruit export
market (due to production in California and Florida). This is a similar pattern to
those of the Germans and Irish (the Old Immigrants) who left their homelands be-
cause of warfare and famine earlier in the century. Once in America, the Italian
men told their families and friends of plentiful jobs and high wages. The response
was a massive emigration from southern taly; sometimes entire villages left and en-
tire districts were depopulated of their males. From wattle-and-daub or straw struc-
tures of rural southern Italy, individual workers and entire families crowded into
tenements in Little Italy. Upon initial arrival, they found work as unskilled laborers,
sweatshop pieceworkers (for the women), and ragpickers (including, at times, entire
families). Jacob Riis discusses the conditions in which the ltalians lived on Mulberry
Street:

40) families packed into houses built to hold 5 families and out in the

ards additional crowds are, or were until verv recently, accommodated
in sheds built of old boards and used as drying racks for the Italian
tenants ‘stock’.

Grossman & Associates, Inc.
1988
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PROJECT SPECIFIC ETHNIC AND OCCUPATIONAL SHIFTS

In addition to the general insights and patterns addressed by the above mentioned
scholars for various ethnic groups in the 19th century, this study incorporated census
records, tax records and city directories as a basis for characterizing both the ethnic
makeup and occupational patterns for the immediate study area {Blocks 508, 509,
and 521). This compiled data was rendered in two formats.

First, pertinent information on the country of origin, number of residents, occupa-
tions, and surnames was compiled in a detailed lot by lot listing for all lots high-
lighted by Landmarks (Appendix IT). Second, the data was computer processed to
vield lot and block specific cross-tabulations by census and/or directory year for oc-
cupations and country of origin, as a basis for characterizing any project-specific
shifts or patterns through time.

Census data for the occupants of the portions of the three citv blocks within the
project area, appear to reflect the overall New York City immigration trends for the
late 19th and early 20th century. While the sample was restricted to identifying the
country of origin for only head-of-household, it did not trace individuals and their oc-
cupational status over time, a graph of the relative percentages through time, ("Shift-
ing Ethnicity 1855-1900, Blocks 508, 509, and 521"), does document some basic
demographic shifts within the three blocks between 1853 to 1900.

Appendix 1Va shows the percentage of different ethnic origins for the year 1855. It
is labelled "1855 General Area" for the following reason. The 1855 census records
do not record addresses. When doing census research, one has to first determine the
particular ward one’s Block is in and from that, determine the smaller (in area) elec-
tion district. Every single block comprising that election district is included within
the census book. For instance, Blocks 508 and 509 fell within an glection district
which was composed of a six block area. The census records listed each and every
household within that six block district. Unless one knows in advance the names of
the individuals one is looking for, the records provide no basis for correlating those
people in the 1855 census with a specific address or even block.

For the same period, the census data for Block 521 was included within an even
larger district. To record each of these "thousands” of names would have been, for
the purposes of this study, beyond the scope of a reasonable effort. Instead, data
from the six-block area which included Blocks 508 and 509, among others, was col-
lected so as to provide a general profile of the ethnic composition of the neighbor-
hood in 1855.

As graphically illustrated for the immediate project area, the patterns of ethnic af-
filiation for the residents was fairly constant for the Irish and English: it dropped-off

Grossman & Associates, Inc.
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for the Germans, American Blacks, and American-born whites, and rose dramatical-
ly for Italians at the turn of the 20th century.

Again, it is important to note that we are discussing groups, not individuals, and are
not implying changes within the base population sample or to individual condition
over time. Rather, the graphically summarized demographic data presents the rela-
tive percentage of each recorded ethmnic group, at various times during the second
half of the 19th century and early 20th century.

In general, between the 1850s to 1900, there is a marked increase in the percent of
Ttalians and decrease in Irish, German, and American-born Blacks and Whites. The
most dramatic shift in population composition occurs prior to the 1900 census with
the addition of large numbers of Italians to the community. Another notable shift
comes in the Black population sample between 1855 and 1870; the marked increase
in the percent of Blacks in the population may reflect the first wave of rural agricul-
turalists from the South moving into the city during difficult Reconstruction condi-
tions. The turn of century reduction in the proportion of Blacks may correspond to
the inception of movement into Harlem or may simply reflect an increase in ab-
solute numbers of people in the study area.

OCCUPATIONAL PATTERNS

In addition to documenting the shifting ethnic patterns within the immediate project
area, the census, city directory, and tax data provided a detailed inventory of the oc-
cupations of the residents for each of the major study years recorded. Likewise, in
addition to the raw data in tabular format (Appendix Ila, IIIb), the occupational
records were cross-tabulated by year with three incremental levels of resolution; the
occupation by block and lot, by block, and for alf three study blocks combined. At
all levels of resolution, these inventories document a pattern of broad diversity of
recorded occupations with relatively small numbers of individuals reported for any
one occupation.

As detailed in Appendix I1la for all blocks, and for each individual study block in Ap-
pendix I1Ib, these cross-tabulations effectively document the range of occupations of
each of the recorded household heads within the study area for four sample years,
(1851, 1870, 1880, and 1900). While these cross-tabulations show relatively small
numbers for any one profession through time, two general patterns are discernible.
First, while the numbers are low for any individual occupation with the exception of
a peak of seven clerks in 1870 and 1830 and the presence of two coachmakers in
1851, the most common occupations for this survey period can be classified as "blue
collar" and service-oriented. Second, the highest count for any single occupation was
for the category of laborer, which increased from twenty-eight in 1870 to sixty in

Grossman & Associates, Inc.
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1900. Tailors fluctuated between two and six for most of the 19th century but
jumped to twenty-nine in 1900 and bootblacks jumped from none, previously, to a
high of sixteen in 1900.

Thus, for this time span, which covers the transition of the study area from
predominantly single-family professional use in the first half of the 19th century to
tenements in the second half, these occupational breakdowns by time period provide
a clear picture of both the diversity and relative prevalence of occupations.

The ability to discern patterns in this data set, (as discussed with Landmarks’ Staff),
were tempered by the fact that these inventories of occupation were limited during
the research phase, to the recording of the occupations of the heads-of-household
and only within the mandated project area (Baugher and Pagano, personal com-
munication. 1988). Finally, the data referred to predominantly male heads-of-
households and thereby cannot be taken to reflect the diversity of job related
activities of ail members of each household.

Over time, within the subject lots, there was a marked increase in the number of
laborers, possibly associated with the increased numbers of Italian immigrants into
the neighborhood. Additionally, as the absolute numbers in the neighborhood in-
creased, there was a general increase in the numbers of service positions and mer-
chants resident in the study area.

SITE-SPECIFIC HISTORY OF THE PROJECT AREA

17th Century History

The earliest references to ownership of the Project Area were located in early deeds
which dated from the early 17th century (Stokes 1928; Abstracts of Title 1917).
These documents revealed that the area bounded by Muiberry, East Houston, Mott
and Elizabeth Streets, was originally part of Director-General Wouter Van Twiller’s
Bowery. After his lands reverted to the Dutch government, much of it was initially
granted to a number of newly-freed black slaves. This caused the area to be common-
ly referred to as the "Negro Lots" or the Negroes’ Bouwery" (Stokes 1928 VI:123).
These "lots" were located west of the Bowery, between the "old Indian Trench or
graft” (modern Prince Street) and "the old highway or Cosyn Gerritsen’s wagon-way"
(modern Astor Place; Figure 1).

Grossman & Associates, Inc.
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In 1644, a first wave of "Negro Lots" was officially granted to eleven manumitted
slaves who had "served" the Dutch West India Company in New Netherlands "for 18
or 19 years" and whom had "long ...been promised their freedom” (N.Y. Historical
Manuscripts 1974). Contemporary deeds show, however, that many of these former
slaves had, in fact, been living there for a number of years prior to the official grant-
ing of those ground briefs by Governor Kieft (Stokes 1928).

o The Santomee Tract:

That portion of the project area within Block 521, as well as the northern tips of
Blocks 508 and 509, were officially granted by Director Peter Stuyvesant to the
former slave, Christofell Santomee in 1659-60 (Figure 1). This lot of land "contain-
ing in breadth alongst the wagon path 32 rods; in length, on the south side, along by
the land of Antony Sopie, 46 rods; behind on the west side. 39 rods; and on the north
side alongst Manuell de Ros, 38 rods" was "designated No. 1" (Stokes, 1928). As dis-
cussed below, in the 18th century it became part of the Dyckman Farm.

Christofell Santomee married Maria Dangola, widow of Gratia Dangola, who was
one of the first slaves to be manumitted by the Dutch West India Company in 1644.
(N.Y. Historical Documents 1974). Gratia Dangola had been granted a tract of land
in December of that same year. Governor Nicholl’s confirmation of this tract under
British law in 1667, noted that it was now the property of Dangola’s widow, Maria,
and her "new husband" Christoffel Santomee. Although the Dangola Tract is not
part of the project area, this considerable parcel, which encompasses Blocks 500-
504, 512-515 and 518, when added to the lands owned within the project impact
area, demonstrates Santomee to have been a considerable land owner during the
mid 17th century..

In light of this fact, therefore, it seems remarkable that although Santomee and the
other "free negroes" had been manumitted or freed by the Dutch West India Com-
pany and many ex-slaves owned considerable land parcels, contemporary documents
clearly showed their freedom to be precarious and dependent upon a life-long yearly
payment to the Company, of "30 schepels of maize, or wheat, pease or beans and one
fat hog" and "if any one shall fail to pay (he will forfeit) his freedom” (Kieft 1644, in
N.Y. Historical Manuscripts 1974). Even more significant, was the fact that the exist-
ing children of these "free” men, as well as those children yet unborn, were "bound
and obligated to serve the ... West India Company as slaves..." (Ibid).

In an undated deed, "not found of record" but incorporated into a later deed dating
to 1679, it became clear that "Christopher Santome" sold his traet of land within the
project area to Sigismundus Luycas. Luycas in turn, sold it to Hendrick Bastiensen
on Nov. 1, 1679 (Liber Deeds V1:154 Albany in Stokes 1928 Vol V1:123). Bastiensen
died sometime between 1679 and 1684. His widow, Marritje Henricx, then married
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the widower, Jacob Cornilissen Stille. Stilles’ sons apparently took the surnames
Somerendyck and Woertendyck but retained the latter as their family name (this be-
comes pertinent below). However, by February 1684. the property belonged to the
widow Bastiensen and Jacob Stille.

By 1696, Stille, his wife and the tutor of the deceased Bastiensen’s children. John
Brevoort, had conveyed title to Richard Ashfield (Liber 21:143). One year later. in
1697, Ashfield and his wife sold the property back to Stille (Liber 21:261).

e The Antonys Tract:

The remaining portion of Blocks 508 and 509 was granted by Stuyvesant to another
newly freed slave, Antony Antonys, also known as "Anthony of the Bowery" (Stokes
1928 VI:502). Subsequent to the English takeover of New Netherlands, Governor
Richard Nicholl confirmed the grants to Santomee and Antonys in October of 1667.
This document described Antonys’ grant as that "parcel of land having no name be-
tween Christofell Santomes and Manuel de Spang, containing before in breadth
toward the "wagon path’ 16 rods, behind 30 rods; and in length on each side, 55 rods”
(Stokes 1928 VI:150). Antonys’ two lots became part of the Tucker Farm in the 13th
century (see below and Figure 1).

The most southerly of the ex-slaves’ grants was allotted to Manuel De Spangie. His
lot encompassed, in addition to other lands, the southernmost or rest of Blocks 508
and 509. In other words, those portions of Blocks 508 and 509, just outside the
project area (Figure 1).

At some point in time, subsequent to Governor Nicholls 1667 reconfirmation of
Antonys’ grant and 1680, the land was purchased by "John Theunis of the Bowery"
(Stokes 1928 VI:150). Unfortunately, this deed no longer exists in the archives,
However, a deed dated April 20, 1680 shows that Theunis’ widow and William Jan-
sen Roman, her present husband, conveyed the property to the "Deacons of the
Reformed Church of this City" (ibid). In 1696, the Deacons sold the property to
Jacob Stille (Liber 21:143). The next day, on April 23, 1696, Stille, his wife and the
tutor, John Brevoort (see above), deeded the land to Richard Ashfiled (ibid). On
January 11, 1697, for reasons unknown, Ashfield sold the tract back to Stille.(Liber

21:211)
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18th CENTURY HISTORY
e The Tucker Farm

The Tucker Farm was composed of Antony Antonys’ and Manuel de Spangies’ tracts
(most of Blocks 508 and 509). It is Antonys’ tract we are concerned with, since much
of the project area was contained within its boundaries (Blocks 508 and 509).

As stated above, Jacob Stilles’ sons assumed the surname Woertendyk. Deeds im-
mediately subsequent to Stilles’ purchase of the original Antonys’ property, are no
longer extant. However, "one Cornelius Wortendyck died seized of the land in 1775"
(Stokes 1928 V1:150). His will, however, dated Nov. 18, 1768 and proved April 29,
1775, left his entire estate to his only child, Mary Tucker and after her death to her
three sons, James, Thomas and Robert Tucker, equally (ibid}.

Although Stokes (1928 VI:150) stated that the Tucker Farm was surveyed in 1790 by
Casimir Goerck and a copy of the map annexed to Liber 46:191, the title search un-
covered no survey or map associated with this deed. It is possible that the Liber
Number was incorrectly printed. It is important to note, however, that the Taylor
Roberts Plan of 1796 shows both the outline of the Tucker Farm as well as a struc-
ture at the northeast corner of Block 507, immediately to the east of the project
area, as well as a structure on what became Block 508 along Mott Street (old Winne
St., Figures 1 and 3). Given the scale and inaccuracies of the 18th Century historic
maps, it is impossible to establish with any certainty, that the structure along Mott
Street was within the project area. However, given the fact that the project area was
a farm, there is the possibility that a house and possible secondary barn structures
with associated outbuildings might have once existed within the boundaries of the
project impact area.

® The Dyckman Farm

Like Antonys’ lands, the Santomee Tract had passed through various hands to Jacob
Stille by 1697. Deeds which might have demonstrated the chain of title to Catherine
Benson and her son Robert Benson Jr., are no longer extant (Stokes 1928
Vol.VI:101). However, a deed dated Febh. 28, 1764, showed that the Bensons sold the
property to John Dykman (Liber 25:547). This tract, which was grouped and sold
with other adjacent land parcels, together became known as the John Dyckman
Farm and included project area Blocks 521 as well as portions of Blocks 508 and 509.

The 1766-67 Ratzer Plan clearly shows the Dyckman property. Two structures are
clearly illustrated above the Dyckman name and one is located directly below it
(Figure 2). The northerly two buildings appear to correlate in location with those
structures illustrated on the Taylor Roberts Plan of 1796 (which also shows that
streets have been laid out within the project area. with the exception of E. Houston
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St. by the Jast decade of the late 18th century.)(Figure 3). The 1796 map depicts one
structure at the northeast corner of Block 507 and one on Winne Street, (Mott St.),
on project Block 508 (Figure 3). However, as stated above, the scale and known inac-
curacies of early historic maps, makes it difficult to establish the exact location of
these structures within the project area. That the main house was not within the
project impact zone seems clear, since Stokes (1928 VI:101) states that the Dyckman
House "stood west of Bowery Lane about 150 feet north of East Houston Street.”

LATE 18TH CENTURY LAND SUBDIVISIONS

» Block 508

Bv 1764, Block 508, in its entirety, was owned by John Dyckman (Dyckman). (Liber
25:547). When he died in 1793, the property was bequeathed to his five children:
Teunis Edeson. Mathew, John, Catharine and Rebecca (Appendix I). The larger.
more southerly portion of Block 508, which included that area of the project zone
later known as lots 18, 19, part of 23, and all of 26-29, "passed by various conveyan-
ces to Edward Livingston" who divided it into lots and sold it on April 21st. 1800.
That portion of the project zone lying in the northern sector of Block 508 and which
encompassed that area later known as lot numbers 20-24, and half of lot 25, passed
by Dyckman’s Will through various heirs to Teunis Edeson Dyckman. Dyckman
divided his property in the north end of Block 508 into lots and sold it on April 4,
1795.

o Block 509

Block 509 shared the same early history as Block 508, having been owned by John
Dyckman by the mid-18th century and bequeathed to his five children after his
death. The northernmost portion of the block which contains a large chunk of the
project impact area, (most of lots 19-22), was sold by the various heirs to Teunis
Edeson Dyckman. Dyckman divided it into city lots and began to sell it off in April,
1795. Immediately to the south, the central section of the block, (which includes lot
18 of the project area), passed through several owners to Edward Livingston who
sold it off in city lots beginning in April, 1800.

The southern portion of Block 509 passed to William Wilicocks by 1794 and even-
tually to David Wagstaff and Aquila Giles who conveyed it to St. Peters Roman
Catholic Church which was built at the corner of Mott and Prince Streets between
1809-15, from designs by Joseph F. Mangin,. Although a fire destroyed much of the
building in 1869, it interior was rebuilt, is still extant and has been given Landmark
Status. (Kouwenhoven 1953).
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e Block 521

The northern quarter of Block 521, which was outside the project area, became part
of the Nicholas Bayard East Farm, It passed to Anthony Bleecker in 1791. The
balance of the block, which includes that portion of the project impact area within
Block 521, fell, like Blocks 508 and 509, within the bounds of the John Dyckman
Farm. After Dyckman’s death, the second guarter of the Block. directly south of
Bleecker’s lands passed through various Dyckman heirs to David Grim who con-
veyed it to Anthony Smith by 1798.

The third quadrant of Block 521, (south of the Anthony Smith parcel), passed to
John Vreelandt in 1795: it contained many of those lots which are part of the project
impact area (lots 28, 29, 49, 51, and 52). Almost simultaneously, the fourth quarter
came into the possession of John Dyckman, Jr. Project area lots 53, 54, and 59-61,
fell into this portion.

Therefore, it is clear that by the turn of the century, Blocks 508, 509, and 521 had
been divided into lots and were ripe for development. Before the first decade of the
19th century was over, newly constructed houses, shops and stables began to quickly
fill up the empty spaces of these newly created city lots.

19TH CENTURY LOT-SPECIFIC HISTORY

In addition to a cartographic study of existing maps and atlases (see Overlays 1-3), a
title search was undertaken. Data gathered from census records, tax assessment
records and city directories established a thorough occupational history of each of
the lots mandated by the Scope of Work.

Also, an in-depth study of Block and Lot folders containing modern building records
on file at the Municipal Archives was undertaken for each designated "soft" or poten-
tially "open” areas for each Block and Lot within the Landmark’s designated study
area. A sample of New Building Dockets dating from 1863 through the 1880’s was
checked to establish additional information about dates of construction as well as
foundation depths for those new buildings, for each of the lots within the open areas
defined by the historic map overlay. As stated above, although documentary data
was gathered for all stipulated lots, only the surviving "open” lots are individually ad-
dressed below

e Biock 509

Our research concluded that one "soft” or "open" area (areas with no documented
evidence for past coustruction or subsurface impacts), was left in Block 509. This
corresponds with the rear of Lot 20. Three other possible, or ambiguous areas were
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found to be located in Lots 19, 21, and 22. Although outside of the project area: the
backyards of Lot 18 was also discussed because of a possible early relationship with
the buildings facing E. Houston St.

Modem project Lot 19 (Ambiguous Sensitivity)

Old Lot No. 19
1917 Address: 41 E. Houston
1884 Address: 41 E. Houston and 292 Mulberry
1870 Address: 41 E. Houston and 290 Mulberry
1850 Address: 530 E. Houston
1840 Address: 410 E. Houston

The map survey indicated that a five-story building appeared to have covered the en-
tire lot by 1925 at the latest. However, a small area in the rear central portion of the
lot was devoid of construction from the 1850’s up until the 1925 Bromley Atlas
showed a small two-story structure covering the once open area. An open rear yard
ared once again appeared on the 1955 atlas, and is possible that the 1925 atlas was in
error. However, even if there was a small 2-story structure constructed over the open
area ca. 1925, this once open area may be "sensitive” due to the fact that evidence for
a deep basement is lacking. For this reason, a brief history of this lot has been in-
cluded.

As late as 1840, the owner, John C. Merritt, had not developed this property (Tax As-
sessment Records). By 1849, however, the physician, Abraham Clement, lived at this
address (Doggett 1849-50). Clement remained until at least 1855, as he appeared in
the census records for that year (N.Y.C. Census, 1855). That Dr. Clement’s
household included his wife, children and servants, suggests that he lived and, possib-
ly, worked here for at least six years or longer. Behind the 41 E. Houston structure,
Doggett’s Directory noted a "stable" at 290 Mulberry Street in 1851, This building
was also located within the boundaries of Lot 19 and can be seen on the 1850°s com-
posite overlay (sheet 8§ of 8). The open area, was not associated with the stable nor
with the Mulberry Street addresses, but, rather, with the rear yard area of what was
once Dr. Clement’s house.

By the 1870’s, twelve families of predominantly German and Irish origins were living
on Lot 19 (N.Y.C. Census, 1870). This suggests a change from a single family dwell-
ing in the mid-19th century to a tenement situation by 1870.

The 1880 census records note a barber of German origins at 41 E. Houston Street.

Modemn Lot 20
Old Lot No. 20
1917 Address; 45 E. Houston
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1884 Address: probably (43) 45 E. Houston
1850 Address: 528 E. Houston
1840 Address: 408 E.Houston

An Alteration plan for Lot 20, dating to 1953, indicated an open rear yard area, 5" X
21°1" in size, behind the then existing three-story building. (ALT 657/53). Here, too,
the 1925 atlas was inconsistent with earlier and later Atlas. [t illustrates that the
building footprint covers the entire lot, while atlases prior and subsequent to 1925.
depict an open yard area to the rear. For instance, the 1915 Bromley Atlas, depicts a
large open yard area behind the three-story structure. Furthermore, a report by
Dresdner, Robins & Associates (1987), stated that the 1930 Bromley Atlas clearly
showed that the building footprint did "not cover the entire lot." Therefore, it must
be assumed that the 1925 atlas was in error.

As late as 1840, the owner of the property, John C. Merritt, had not yet developed
the lot at 45 E. Houston St. Phoebe M. Merritt, the widow of Michael Merritt),
however, was living there by 1849 and remained until at least 1855 where she ap-
pears in the census records for that year. Liwas probably still a single tamily dwelling
in 1870, as only one family, of Irish origins, was living in the nouse (NYC census,
1870). By 1880, however, four families, with four separate ethnic backgrounds. were
living at this address. The building footprints in 1850 and in 1884, remained identi-
cal, as did the open yard area to the rear. The 1915-17 composite overlay (sheet 5 of
8), indicates that a small structure had been added to the rear lot, but did not cover

the entire rear yard area.

By 1900, the New York City census listed only one household, with 10 members, at
45 E. Houston Street. It does not seem to have been a single-family dwelling,
however, since a demolition notice dating to 1953 (DM 45/33), describes itas a
three-story building with 10 apartments. By 1953, the building was vacant and was
soon demolished to make way for a small parking lot (ibid).

Modern Lot 21
Old Lot 21
1917 Address: 47 East Houston
1884: 47 E. Houston
1850: 526 E. Houston
1840: 406 E. Houston

Building records indicated that the building on present-day Lot 21 underwent major
alterations in 1929, (ALT698/29), which added a new basement extension to the rear
of the then present buildings (Figure 7). These effectively extended the rear of the
building to the boundaries of the present-day lot line. The foundation depth of the
original pre-alteration structure was 8 feet below curb (ALTG698/29), and the new
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basement extension, which extended the building to the lot line, had a foundation
depth of 5 feet (ibid). The Rock Data Maps, however, only showed seven feet of fill
at the corner of Mott and E. Houston Streets (Boring #23)., on Block 509. Because
of the shallow basement depth relative to the seven foot fill in the rear yard area as
well as the relatively shallow 8 foot foundation depth in the original building, the
possibility exists for surviving subsurface features. It is therefore pertinent to briefly
describe the history of Lot 21.

Tax Assessment recards show that as late as 1835, John Sidell had not developed the
property. By 1840, however, he had built a house at this address. Subsequent infor-
mation obtained from city directories and census records, revealed that Russell
Dart, a dry goods merchant with a shop on Maiden Lane, and his eleven-member
household, which included family and servants, resided here for, at minimum, an
eight year period which lasted from 1848 until, at least, 1855.

Again, an intensive study of maps and atlases, showed that up until circa 1925, an
open rear-yard area, possibly dating back to Dart’s ca. 1850 residence, might possibly
contain the remains of privies or cisterns dating to that time period, given the shal-
low basement depths relative to the seven feet of fill.

Modern Lot 22: (49 E. Houston St.)
Old Lot 22
1917 Address: 49 E. Houston
1884 Address: 49 E. Houston
1850 Address: 524 E. Houston St.
1840 Address: 404 E. Houston St.

Sometime between 1836 and 1840, John C. Merritt constructed a house on Lot 22
(Tax Assessment Records). From 1849-1853, Nelson Jarvis, the tailor, used it as his
residence. In 1854, Dr. Henry G. Cox, physician, resided here with family and ser-
vants until, at least, 1858 and possibly longer (Doggett, Trow, Rodes, NYC census
1855). Between 1855-1858, cabinetmaker Horace Harrington shared this address

with the Cox family. Atlases from that time period show an open yard area to the

rear of the main structure (sheet 8 of 8). By 1870, two different families, both of Ger-
man origin, occupied the building (NYC Census 1870). The rear-yard area was still
devoid of building construction from 1884 until 1917.

An alteration record dating to 1912, (ALT 1875/12), stated that the foundation
depth below curb level of the existing three-story structure (with basement) was be-
tween 10-11 feet. By 1925, however. the three-story building appeared to extend
even farther back into the empty rear-yard area. It was also apparent that between \ o
1925-1955, a building, which appears in the atlases, to face 283 Mulberry Street, ex- WO it
tended back into the rear lots of 47-49 E. Houston. By 1953, all open rear yard areas f:’ Hudhé
Ul
1

bth
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on the property were covered by building footprints. However, in one particular
spot, the footprint consisted only of a one-story structure, probably built circa 1935
(BN 1604/35), and which offered no indication of the presence of a basement.

Modern Lot 18
Old Lot 18 ( may include yard areas of 19-22)

Although Lot 18 was not flagged as a potential area of sensitivity, it is included here
because maps and atlases show it may have shared rear yard areas and occasionally
shared changing lot lines with Lots 19-22 to the north, especially in the early and
mid-19th century period of development of the Block. It may be pertinent to note
that a wooden frame building appeared to have occupied this lot from at least 1899
(and probably before), until the middle of the 20th century.

This property was occupied from, at least 1328, when the firm of Brown and Nichols
occupied the building. By 1855, the NYC Census showed Michael Early, carriage
driver, as well as four other families at this address. Four of the five were of Irish
origin; one was English. By 1870, the census records indicated that seven families
were inhabiting 288 Mulberry Street. All but one was Irish. It is interesting to note
that three heads of household were barbers and two were butchers at this time. By
1880, the number of families had dwindled to two.

Open spaces in the rear yard areas are discussed in detail above in the survey of Lot
22,

e Block 5__08:

Two remaining open areas were found to exist on Block 508. One area, which was
once entirely within what was known as Old Lot 22, today crosscuts modern lot num-
bers 20 and 22. The second area which is located in Modern Lot 18, was once known
as Old Lot 19 (Overlays 1 of 8 and 5 of 8).

Development did not occur along the south side of East Houston between Mott and
Elizabeth Streets until 1836, when Jacob Weeks built a house near the corner of
East Houston and Elizabeth (69 E. Houston St.; Old Lot 24; Modern Lot 25). In
1839, additional houses were constructed - one at 71 E.Houston St. (Old and New
Lots 25), at the corner of Elizabeth and another at 57 E.Houston (Old and New Lot
20), at the corner of Mott. Those city lots in-between the two corner properties were
_not developed until 1846. Therefore, the "soft" open areas on Block 508, which ap-

pear to be backyards on the 1850 overlay, (sheet 8 of 8), and which straddle Modern
Lots 20 and 22, can not predate 1346.
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Modern Lot 20/22
Old Lot 22
1917 Address: 63 E. Houston.
1884 Address: Same.
1850 Address: 504 E. Houston & possibly yard area of 283 Mott Street.
1835 Address: 394 E. Houston & 256 Mott Sts.

Construction along Mott Street in the 19th century, was initiated more than two
decades earlier than construction on East Houston Street. In 1820, "Charley” Hop-
per built a slaughterhouse at what was then 288 Mott St. (technically within Modern
Lot 20). (Tax Assessment Records 1809-1823)

The attached overlay map illustrating remaining open areas as of 1988, (sheet | of
8), depicts an open space or "soft" area in what correlates to the backyards of what
was then 504-502 E. Houston St. Today, these "soft” areas straddie Modern Lots 20
and 22. Given the fact that those properties remained undeveloped until 1846, (see
above), it is possible that the backyard area of the slaughterhouse at 283 Mott St. ex-
tended back overlay or into the rear yard areas of what later became 502-504 E.
Houston Street. A look at the 1850 composite overlay (sheet 8 of 8) clearly il-
lustrates how this particular backvard area might conceivably contain remains from
that earlier time period.

The surveying documents indicate that there were two periods of construction at 238

Mott Street. Hopper’s slaughterhouse remained until 1831, when it may have
burned down. The property was listed as an empty "Lot" in the tax records until 1835,
when Hopper built a stable that remained until at least 1846 (Tax Assessment

" records 1831-46): The 1854 Perris Atlas did not indicate a stable on the property in

the mid-1850’s. Instead, the 1851 Double Directory indicated that one Thomas
Anderson, a "broker” was there in 1851.

By 1884, it is clear that old 288 Mott Street, is its own entity. By the last decade of
the 19th Century, the property is known as 286 Mott St. and its backyard areas no
longer appear to be within the confines of the East Houston Street properties.

As stated above, the open yard areas behind what was known as 504 - 502 East Hous-
ton Street in the 1850’s, and which straddle Modern Lots 20 and 22, contained struc-
tures, first built in 1846 by Dr. E. F Maynard (Tax Assessments 1940-46). Three
separate listings were noted in the tax assessment records for that year for what has
since become 63 East Houston St. In 1846, 392 E. Houston (502 E. Houston in
185(’s), contained a store or stable. There was a single house at 394 E. Houston (504
E. Houston in 1850’s) and 2 houses were listed at 394 1/2 E. Houston (no listing sur-
vives for that address in 1850’s, therefore not clear where the two houses precisely lo-
cated).All were owned by Dr. Maynard in 1846.
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For the purposes of this study, we have focused on the rear yard of 502 E. Houston
which is located in Modern Lot 20 (see overlays 1 of 8 and 8 of 8), and 504 E. Hous-
ton which was located within Modern Lot 22. Although there were no listings in the
1851 Double Directory for either 502 or 504 E. Houston Street, there was a
Shoemakar at 500 E. Houston. The 1852-53 City Directory, however, listed Andrew

HabeTtman, the ootmakers at 502 E. Houston until 1855 (Trow 1352-1855). 4
Elizabeth Kelly, Lawrence Dillon and Leonard Bender lived at 504 E. Houston. be- ‘)‘(\
tween 1852-53 (ibid). Between 1854-55, Bender (a carman), was the only one ,Q\IJ" 'X@W
remaining of the original three (ibid). A gﬁ

Unfortunately, the 1870 Census, contained no listings for these addresses. It is pos-
sible that there was a new construction phase at that time, since at least one new
building was recorded in the New Building Docket in 1871 on the Mott Street side
of Block 508 within Old Lot 19 (modern lot 20). By 1880, the NYC census records
6} lasted five heads of household at 63 E. Houston. (502/504 E. Houston in 1850’s) and
\K“Q/ el ght at 65 E. Houston (502/504 E. Houston in 1850’s). In contrast to the inhabitants
iﬁ\\}f/ at 63 E. Houston, the inhabitants at 65 E. Houston were almost entirely Black. The
@ exception was a German immigrant, who either worked in or owned a "lamp store."
By 1884, the Bromley and Robinson Atlas illustrated that the structures were very
different in shape than they were in the 1850’s. The 1889 Atlas, which has been cor-
o‘g rected to 1902, shows 63 and 65 E. Houston Street as one building with an address of
\i@ 63 E. Houston St., rather than two separate buildings and two separate addresses.
A &The open backyard areas are still identical, however, at this time.

\‘k@\ d\ The 1900 census records continue to list inhabitants at both 63 and 65 E. Houston St.
ODTY‘ ‘There is one qualifier, however, and that is that the inhabitants at 65 E. Houston are
o F | ‘noted as living at "65 (67) E. Houston." O_gly one family is listed at 63 E. Houston: a
R _household of six persons of Irish extraction, i.e., Kelly the buttormaker. At 65 (67)
"E. Houston, there are twelve families,(a total of 48 people), nine of which fam1hes

, are of Italian ethnic origins.

An Alteration Notice (ALT 2691/12), dating from 1912, stated that the brick build-
ing at 63 E. Houston Street was four-stories tall and the depth of its foundations
eight feet. By 1925, the building has the same dimensions. The open yard area,
however, has been reduced. It appears that the structure at 284 Mott Street, (Old
Lot 19)/Modern Lot 18) extends into the yard area of 63 E. Houston and further
reduces the backyard. ’

In 1952, it was proposed that the building be converted to S.R.O. and the "entire cel-

lar filled in" (P & D 1183/51).

<FModar Lot 187

Old Lot 19
1917 Address: 284 Mott St.

~
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1889-1902 Address: same
1884 Address: same

1850 Address: 286 Mott St.
1836 Address: 254 Mott St.

The study area known as modern Project Lot 18, was, at one time divided into two
separate lots, i.e. lot 18 and tot 19 (overlay sheet 1 of 8). A study of maps and atlases,
dating from the mid-19th century until the present, revealed that a portion of the
rear yard area of lot 19, consistently remained free of building construction.

Tax Assessment Records showed that the lot was first developed in 1827, when a
house was built by Charles Hopper who owned many of the other lots on Mott St. In
the mid-19th century, this second open area on Block 508, was situated in an al-
leyway which separated two buildings {overlay sheet 8 of 8). The 1851 Double Direc-
tory noted a "stable" in old lot 20, i.e. 286 Mott St. but nothing at 284 Mott. The 1857

. Perris Atlas, however illustrated a frame or brick "manufacturer or store”. A frame

dwelling with a brick structure at the rear. was next door at 284 Mott St. (Old Lot
18), during the same time period.

The 1870 census records offered no information for that address. This may be ex-
plained by the fact that the New Building Dockets indicated a new building was
erected in 1871 (NBD1871). Its foundation depth was projected to be eight feet
(ibid).

By 1884, old lot 19 was known as 284 Mott St. Census records for 1880 indicated
m ived in this new building. Nine of the eleven "heads of households"
weﬁborem" and_uﬁﬁgl were of Italian ethnic origin) The smallest number of
people in a single apartment was two; the most, eleven. By. 1900, the same number of
families, (eleven), was living in the tenement at 284 Mott St. By this time, however
everyone was Italian. s

Building records in the Municipal Archives noted that a five-story brick building on
this lot was demolished in 1940 (DM252/40).

C e Block 521

Portions of eight rear-yard, alley-ways, and court-yards on Block 521 appear to have
remained "open" through time. These areas within Modern Lots 28 and 54 cor-
respond with "open” areas in Old Lots 28; 29; 49; 51; 52: 53; 59; and 60. (see Overlay
Maps 1 and 5 of 8).

It must be noted that the smallest of these "open” lot areas, corresponding to
Modern Lot 54 (Old Lots 49 and 51), which appears to represent an air shaft be-
tween the two structures, apparently equidistant to the centerline of the two lots,

Grossman & Associates, Inc.
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may not have survived as an unimpacted "open”area, given its small size. In response
to unregulated construction and poor living conditions between 1867 and 1879, the
Tenement Act of 1867, as amended in 1879, stipulated that the walls adjacent to any
air shaft be constructed at least fourteen inches from the lot line. Given the com-
mon practice of supporting foundation walls with broad flat footers or slabs of stone
which require a wide builders trench to install, and if the construction of the build-
ings adjacent to this airshaft conformed to the 1879 building code. the possibility ex-
ists that this apparent "open area" may have been destroyed or disturbed.

Modern Lot 28
Old Lot 29
1917 Address: 306 Mott St.or 308 Mott St. (2 buildings within 306)
1899-1902 Address: same as zbove
1884 Address: 308 Mott St.
1850 Address: 304 Mott St.
1833 Address: 270 Mott St. (ward #1670) (Figure 5)

The first structure erected on this lot was a house built by Thomas T. Woodruff in
1833. Subsequent to this initial construction episode, the NYC Directory for 1348-49
listed the business and residence of James Harrington, liquors, at this address begin-
ning in 1848. Harrington remained until 1855. In addition, he shared the building
with coachmaker, Thomas Kelly, who used it as his residence until 1853. James
Shean, a "laborer" was also listed here from 1852-533.

By 1870, the census records listed fifteen heads of household in what had obviously
become a tenement. All but one, were Irish immigrants. By 1830, fewer families in-

. habited the lot; all were Italian immigrants. Most were ragpickers and/or laborers
(Appendix 1I).

A review of the overlay sheets (1-8), suggested that after 1884 and prior to 1902, the
building at 308 Mott (Old Lot 29) was torn down and rebuilt, as it appears shorter in
footprint on the latter atlas (overlays 7 of 8; 6 of 8). A 2 1/2 story building was
demolished on this lot as well as on old lot 28 circa 1937 (DM 183/37). Unfortunate-
ly, no building or basement depths were available for this particular lot.

Modern Lot 28
Old Lot 28
1917 Address: 306 and possibly 308 Mott St. (2 bldgs within)
1889-1902 Address: same
1884 Address: 306 Mott St.
1850 Address: 302 Mott St.

“" 1830 Address: 268 Mott St.
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The first building constructed on old lot 28, was a house built by Daniel Higgins in
1828. Higgins died in 1838 and the property became part of his estate Tax Assess-
ment Records 1828-1838). By 1847, the building was occupied by the baker, John
Boyle. Boyle lived as well as worked at this address until at least 1851 (Doggett).
Sharing the structure, as early as 1848 and until at least 1851, was the tailor, Edward
Ward. It is not clear if Ward only lived here or whether his shop was within the build-
ing, too. By 1851, Patrick Rode, bootmaker, shared this address with Ward and
Boyle. Again, the Directory did not state if he worked or lived or both, at this ad-

dress.

In 1870, the census records listed four heads of household at 306 1/2 Mott St. and
four at 306 Mott. The relationship between 306 and 306 1/2 is not clear. By circa
1884, the overlay map shows that the structure that was one large building in the
1850’s and which was known as 302 Mott St., was now two separate buildings. The
building within the Lot being discussed here, is 306 Mott St.

The 1880 census records listed only two households at 306 Mott (old lot 28). One
head of household was a German jeweller with three members in his living quarters
and the other was a single individual born in the U.S.A.; who did "housework" for a
living. Although it was expected that more people would be at this address in the
late 19th and early 20th centuries, perhaps the lack of individuais can be explained
partially by the 1915 Bromley Atlas which showed only a 2 1/2 story building with a
basement on Lot 28. Sometime after 1925, E. Houston St. was widened considerably
and Block 521 lost the southerly portion of the Block. This did not affect Lot 28,
however.

A Demolition Notice was filed in 1937 (DM 183/57).

Modern Lot 54

Old Lot 52
1917 Address: 291 Elizabeth St.
1899-1902: 291 Elizabeth St.
1884: 291 Elizabeth St.
1850 Address: 271 Elizabeth St.
1830’s Address: 255 Elizabeth St.
1828 Address: 230 Elizabeth St.

"W & G Post" constructed the first house on this lot in 1824 (Tax Assessment
Records 1820-38). They appeared in the tax assessment records until at least 1838.
By 1849, Phillip H. Jonas, a silver plater, resided here. Jonas remained until 1853. It
should be noted that Henry Stroube, the shoemaker. was also listed at this address
from 1851 until 1853, along with Jonas (Doggett’s Directory).
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The remaining open area falls within what was the rear yard in the early 1850’s.
However, Perris’ Atlas for 1859, illustrates a smoke house which takes up part of the
rear of that yard.

The 1870 census listed three families at this address in 1870 (NYC Census [870). All

three heads of household were clerks - two being store clerks and one, a bank clerk.

The ethnic identity of each was different, however. The small number of inhabitants @()
dwelling at this address, (seven), suggests that the building was not large, and that it C
may still, in fact, have been the original structure. Seven people were living here in Hu“a L
1880. also, according to the census taken that year. Four household heads were ¥

listed - two were Irish immigrants and the other two, native U.S. citizens. By 19(),
four ltalian immigrant families were indicated by the census for that year when the
address was 291 Elizabeth St. The 1915 Bromley Atlas showed a six-story building
with a basement and store and an open rear yard area.

A letter from the Dept. of Buildings regarding the premises at 291-95 Elizabeth S¢
and dating to 1963, was found on file with an appended application for "Certificates
of Eviction." The applicant, Skyway Service Stations, Inc. wanted the land to extend
a parking lot operated by them at 60-70 E. Houston St. Block and Lot tolders at the
Municipal Archives, recorded a demolition notice (DM 166/65) dating to 1965. This
document noted that the building was a tenement with fifteen apartments.

Modern Lot 54
Old Lot 49
1915-17 Address: 295 Elizabeth St.
1899-1902 Address: 297 Elizabeth St.
1884 Address: 295 and 297 Elizabeth St.
1852 Address: 275 Elizabeth and part of 277 Elizabeth St.
1830’s Address 259 Elizabeth St. (ward # 1657) (Figure 5)

The first house constructed on this property was built prior to 1832 by W & G Post.
Part of the original lot, which was called "ward 1657" in the 183(’s, was within the
project area and part of it was outside of it. The house built by the Posts was the one
within the project area. W & G Post remained until at least 1838. (Tax Assessment
Records 1832-1838). By 1849, Mark Maguire, "agent", was sharing the house with
coachmaker, Thomas Sparling. Maguire remained until at least 1853; Sparling was
only listed in the directories for one year before moving elsewhere (Trow 1852-3;
Doggett 1851). In addition, Margaret Randolph, "tailoress”, was here between 1851-
53 and William More, only in 1851 (Ibid).

It is clear from the 1850’s Perris Atlases (composite overlay sheet § of 8) that 275
and 277 Elizabeth Street lay within old lot 49. What was known as 275 Elizabeth St.
contained a large rear yard area which contained a smoke house in 1859. 277

Grossman & Associates, Inc.
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Elizabeth contained a yard but no smoke house. Both addresses appear to have
remaining open rear areas that would have included both the yards as well as the
smoke house.

The 1870 census records listed six heads of household at 275 Elizabeth St. Three of
the six "heads" were Irish immigrants. It is not clear if the building can be
categorized as a "tenement” at this time, since the six households, taken together,
only contained 10 people, probably not much more than was there, in the 1850’s. By
1880, census records show that three families were living at 275 and three at 277
Elizabeth St.

New Buildings Dockets indicated that a new building was constructed on old lot 49
in 1898 and that the foundation depth was ten feet (Plan #950). In 1900, fourteen
heads of household were listed at what was then 295 Elizabeth St. All were Italian
immigrants. This structure was demolished in 1965 (DM 166/65)

Modern Lot 54
Old Lot 51
1915 Address: 293 Elizabeth St.
1899-1902 Address: 293 Elizabeth St.
1884 Address: 293 Elizabeth and 1/2 of 295 Elizabeth St.
1850 Address: 273 and a tiny bit of 275 Elizabeth St. (see above for 275)
1830’s Address: 257 Elizabeth St. (ward 1658) (Figure 5)

Like old lot 49, the earliest construction on what was then known as ward #1658 or
257 Elizabeth St (later old lot 51), was a house built by W & G Post prior to 1832.
By 1851, the Doggett Double Directory indicated that "constable”, Nathaniel Hep-
burn and John Showler lived here. The 1859 Perris Atlas showed a large hackyard to
the rear of the house, as well as a smokehouse. It is believed that the smokehouse
area, as well as part of the yard, will be impacted by proposed construction.

1870 Census Records show four separate heads of household at what was then 273
Elizabeth St. Three were native U.S, citizens and one had emigrated from England.
Interestingly enough, he was a "reporter." (For a listing of those inhabitants of 275
Elizabeth St. - which touches upon lot 51 - see above under old lot 49).

By 1880, three other families were occupants of this building. Two were of Irish ex-
traction and included a "clerk" and one was an American "music composer”. The
other Irish immigrant was listed as "restaurant”. It is possible, he kept a restaurant at
this address. In 1898, a brick tenement, which held fifteen apartments, was con-
structed (New Building Docket Plan 950). 1t had a ten foot foundation depth
(DM166/65). Census records for 1900, indicate that 15 families were occupying the
new building at what was then 293 Elizabeth St. All were [talian and more than half
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of the heads of household worked as laborers. This building was demolished in 1965
(ibid).

Modern Lot 54
Old Lot 53
1917 Address: 289 Elizaheth St.
1889-1902 Address: half of 291 Elizabeth and half of 289 Elizabeth St.
1884 Address: 289 Elizabeth St.
1850 Address: 269 Elizabeth St.
1830’s Address: 253 Elizabeth (ward 1660) (Figure 5)

Like old lots 49 and 51, above, old lot number 53 was first developed by W & G Post
prior to 1832, when a house appears in the tax assessment records. The Posts were
assessed for this property until at least 1838. City directories for 1849-51 indicated
that Benjamin Swingewood and William Lewers, a "carrier”, (later a "sexton"), reside
in the house. Lewers was still there between 1852-53 but he was listed as an "under-
taker". From 1853-34. coachmaker, Thomas Sparling listed his residence here, at
what was then 269 Elizabeth St. By 1870, census records listed three families occupy-
ing this building. One head of household was a German immigrant (a clerk). The
others had been born in the United States and included a "book folder” and a
"butcher."

In 1880, three different families were in the building, indicating it had not changed
in size. At this time, two were Irish and one head of household was from the States.
There is evidence pointing to the construction of a brick tenement in 1898 with a
foundation depth of ten feet (New Building Docket Plan #950). The 1915 atlas il-
lustrated this large new structure which covered two lots (Lots 53 and 54) (CAL
#247-65-BZ). The census of 1900 paints a portrait of a tenement teeming with 34
separate households of Italian immigrants. Some apartments contained as many as
eleven inhabitants.

Modern Lot 54
Old Lot 59
1915 Address: 62 E. Houston St.
1889-1902 Address: 62 E. Houston St.
1884 Address: 300 Mott St.
1850 Address: 62 & 64 Houston St.
1830’s Address: 266 Mott St.(ward #1668) (Figure 5)

It would appear that the alleyway between the buildings (between lots 59 and 60)
would actually correspond to the original rear area of ward 1668 (266 Mott St. in the
1830’s). This is because there did not appear to be structures along what became E.
Houston St. until the late 1840s.

Grossman & Associates, Ine.
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The foundation of the first building was laid in 1823, when James Boyle was first as-
sessed for this property. By 1824, he had a house on the lot. City directories dating
back to 1847, show that baker, John Boyle was at this address and the 1848 Directory
noted that Boyle both lived and worked here {Doggett). In addition, the tailor Ed-
ward Ward was also listed here until 1853 (Trow 1852-53). By 1854,Boyle had
moved to 9th Avenue (Doggett 1854-55).

The 1854 Perris Atlas showed a frame structure to the rear of, what was then, 293 5
Mott St. However, it was only one of a series of structures within what eventually be- k877

came Old Lot 59. The 1870 census indicated two German families living on the 72
{

property (then 300 Mott St). These heads-of-household were, in turn, a "hackdriver”
and a "musician.” By 1880, an Irish "coachman" and his family lived there as well as
an Irish "paper cutter.”

In 1890, three bhuildings were erected on Old Lots 59, 60 and 61 or 58-62 E. Houston
St. These were described as five-story brick tenements with ten foot foundation
depths (NB 483/90). Unfortunately, no 1900 census data was available for 58 E.
Houston St.
Modern Lot 54
Old Lot 60

1915 Address: 60 E. Houston St.

1884 Address: rear yard of 300 Mott St.

1854 Address: 298 Mott St.

1830’s Address: 266 Mott St. (falls within ward 1668) (Figure 5).

The early history of Old Lot 60, is related to the pre-183(’s designation of the lot as
ward 1668 (266 Mott St). A building foundation was first noted in the tax assess-
ment records in 1823 when the property was owned by James Boyle. This lot has the
same population history as Old Lot 59, above.

It appears to be only the narrow areas on either side of the adjoining building at 62
Houston which may contain an open or "soft” area. As best as can be determined
from the earlier atlases, the open area could derive from an original yard behind a
brick or stone store, which was located in Old Lot 59 in 1854. It might also be as-
sociated with the open space behind the yard at what was then 298 Mott St. in 1854
and the frame building at the utmost rear of that property. In 1884, the open area
would have fallen into the area between the yard of 300 Mott St. and an open space,
where there were once frame buildings.

As stated above, a new tenement was constructed on this lot by 1890 with ten feet
deep foundation.
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SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

This historical and archaeological sensitivity study has focused on the definition of
two levels of information:

e |. The use of scaled historic map overlays to define open yard, allevway, and
courtyard areas which may have survived the destructive impacts of building,
basement, and wall construction.

e 2. The reconstruction of the occupational, ethnic, and demographic history
of each surviving open lot area as a basis for characterizing the nature of
potentially surviving archaeological remains within each of the defined sur-
viving open areas.

The historic map overlays illustrate the spatial extent and boundaries of surviving
open areas and are graphically illustrated as blank spaces within the much larger lot
boundaries, presumed to have been destroyed by building and basement construc-
tion, on the final overlay composite map (Number 8). In addition, the nature and
depth of the vertical range of surviving deposits within each identified area was
based on combined evidence from engineering coring logs as well as patterns of
preservation recorded both in the vicinity and elsewhere in Manhattan.

Although limited in number, the available boring records for the immediate vicinity
of the project area indicated a pattern of seven feet of fill between the modern sur-
face and the original 18th century topography. The compilation of building records
and alteration plans, although varied, indicate that the 19th century buildings were
constructed with subsurface basements which extended to at least eight to ten feet
below the 20th century grade. Based on these two lines of physical evidence, it is
concluded that for this immediate area the buildings and structural foundations
facing on each of the major project streets, would have extended down, into and
through both the 19th and earlier 18th century surfaces, deposits, or features which
may once have been present.

For a number of the lots, the historic map analysis indicated the presence of secon-
dary rear-yard structures either with no indicated foundations or alteration records
showing relatively shallow, five foot deep, basement extensions, which may have left
buried features within the 19th century fill zone and below, potentially undisturbed,
or truncated.

The net result of these multiple lines of physical evidence resulted in the definition
of a limited number of reiatively small (less than ten percent), predominately rear-
yard, open areas for each of the defined block areas (see below).
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Within each of these potentially surviving rear-yard areas, the detailed btock and lot
specific histories have provided a basis for characterizing shifts in demographic and
ethnic history of each lot, as well as the general time span of potentially surviving ar-
chaeological remains.

The initial phase of occupation involved a 17th century rural settlement of "free
negroes, or ex-slaves,” who were granted farmland by the Dutch West India Com-
pany. By the middle of the 18th century, the study area was part of the Dyckman
and/or Tucker Farms, which were located at the at the western edge of the historic
"bowery" road. As discussed below, while the major structural remains of the Dyck-
man Farm appear to have been located outside of and to the east of the project area,
an unidentified structure within the confines of the adjacent Tucker property would
have been located in the vicinity of the two small surviving open areas within Block
508 (Figure | and Map 8).

Both the detailed deed histories, and the map comparisons document that this area
of Manhattan was divided into "modern city lots” by 1800, at the latest. As docu-
mented elsewhere, throughout Manhattan, from the southern waterfront of the
present day Financial District to far north of Central Park, this process of gridding
was accompanied by a consistent process of cutting and filling of high and low areas
to create the relatively flat landscape of the avenues and streets of modern Manhat-
tan. The presence of seven feet of fill in the immediate project vicinity corresponds
with this generalized pattern of landscape alteration during the first decade of the
19th century. Accordingly, it is assumed, that this seven foot fill deposit corresponds
with the zone of possible 19th century features (eg. cisterns, privies, and wells) and
that the underlying deposits indicated by the boring logs suggest that the materials
found below this [evel would correspond with the original 18th century topography.
Given the indicated presence of an 18th century occupation in the vicinity suggested
by the low resolution historic maps, it is possible to project the potential survival of
18th century features or historic deposits, at or below this seven foot interface level.

Furthermore, it is assumed, based upon the documentary evidence for both the ini-
tial presence of structures, in the 1820s to 1840’s, that any 19th century features,
would have been used and abandoned up until the advent of water pipes and sewer
line extensions into Little Italy, in the second halfefthe 19th century. However, it
must be strongly pointed out that although the surviving records generally indicate
when these utilities became available in the area. there was no surviving documen-
tary evidence for defining when specitic building hookups were actualized in the
neighborhood.

As a precursor to highlighting the identity and time range of potentially surviving ar-
chaeological resources within each of the defined open lot areas, the results of the ar-
chival research have documented several consistent patterns in the occupationai and
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ethnic history of each of the study blocks. In general, once the initial domestic and
commercial structures were built between the 1820's and 184()s, the combined tax
assessment, deed, and census data suggest a common pattern of low density, single
family or patron occupancy until the decade of the 1870’s. For this initial three to
four decade period, it has been generally possible to identify the specific commer-
cial\occupational and in most cases, ethnic composition of the residents, and that
the area was generally restricted to one or two families or commercial occupants for
this phase of 19th century history.

However, subsequent to the 1870's, the combined census and tax assessment data
reveals a transition to relatively dense, multifamily residences, with concentrations
of up to twelve families in each building, where before there had been one or two.
Despite the early "tenement" nature of these neighborhoods, they may reflected
regional and ethnic idiosyncracies on a block by block basis.

Lot Specific Survivals
e Block 508

Surviving open areas are severely limited in total area to less than 0.1 %6 (200 sq.ft.)

. of the total study area (22,300 sq.ft.) within the block. Nevertheless, the documen-
tary evidence suggests the possibility that this small space may be in the vicinity of an
unidentified mid 18th century structure associated with the Tucker Farm as well as
the possible presence of 19th century remains which can be correlated with specific
individuals and activities prior to the 1880’s. As detailed in the Lot specific discus-
sions above, one of the old lots in Block 508 (Lot 22), was reported to have been
used as a slaughterhouse, stable, and then broker’s office, or residence between 1820
and 1851. After 1846 this old Lot 22 was associated with structures facing Houston
Street, which included a store or stable in the 1846 inventory and at least two multi-

. ple family dwellings of mixed ethnic composition as of the 1870’s census.
. - -_——

' The second potentially surviving block area was associated with the rear of modern
Lot 18 or old Lot 19. Records indicated the presence of a single residence as of
1827, a store of undefined function in 1857, and the manifestation of a predominate-
ly Italian tenement by 1884,

e Block 509

The historic map comparisons of building locations relative to surviving open areas
is slightly more complicated when compared to blocks 508 and 521. Because of car-
. tographic ambiguity, or lack of surviving evidence in the documentary record, the
definition of potential "soft" spots is ranked into two categories: "possible” and "prob-
able." The probable surviving area is limited to a 100 sq. ft. open area associated
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SURVIVING QFEN AREAS.

Block # Modern 01d Lot Actual Study 2area
Lot No (Lot No.| Dimensions Area by Block
521 Study area: 28 28/29 10x25 250 sqg.ft.
54 49/51 5x4 20 sq.ft.

Total study 54 52/53 5X15 75 sq.ft. 405 sqg.ft
area: 54 59/60 6x10 60 sg.ft.

11,520 sqg.ft. - 3.5%
508 Study area:|20/22 22 20x2 100 sq.ft. Total:
Total study 18 19 10x10 i00 sqg.ft. 200 sqg.ft
area:

22,300 sqg.ft. .08%
509 Study area:| 20 20 20x5 100 sqg.ft.
Total study Total:
area: 100 sqg.ft.
6,550 sq.ft. 1.5%

POSSIBLE QPEN AREAS:

509 Study area:4 19 i9 5x6 30 sqg.ft.
Total study 21 21 15x20 300 sg.ft. Total:
area: 21 21 10x8 80 sg.ft. 740 sqg.ft.
6,550 sqg.ft. 22 22 22x15 330 sg.ft. 11.29%
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with the rear of both old and new lot 20, amounting to 1.5 9 of the total of 6550 sg.
ft for the designated study area Block 509. Given the lack of surviving documents,
the possibility also exists of additional possible open areas in three historic lots (19.
21, and 22) which may contain a total of 740 sq ft. of unimpacted. open rear areas, or
11.3 % of the study area of block 509.

_ "
While {3888 Fepresents the earliest date of construction for the block, the majority of
residences and structures associated with these surviving open areas, generally
postdate the 1840’s. The earliest structure associated with old lots 18 and 22, was
first utilized by a commercial broker of undefined nature. By 1855, the structure was
inhabited by five Irish and English residents and included the presence of a carriage
driver. By 1870, the residents in this building had begun a transition to a multifamily
residence, which included the presence of three barbers and two butchers. The four
post 1840 structures (Old Lots 19, 20, 21, and 22) documented the presence of two
physicians, a tailor, and a widow. Their refuse may have been deposited in subsur-
face cisterns or privies.

» Block 521

Out of the total area of 11.520 sq.ft. the rear portions of four rear yard areas (which
in each case crosscut several old lot boundary lines) indicate the potential survival of
only 405 sq.ft. or ca 3.5 % of the Block 521 study area. For this small area the
‘documentary evidence suggests initial construction and occupation during the ten
year period between [823 and 1832. These lots contained at least two bakeries, a lig-
uor store, with the balance of occupations being limited to undefined residences.

—~—
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